# **Dedication:**

This work is dedicated to the family, friends, and mentors who have helped me achieve my goals. I could not have gotten to where I am today without your support.

Drew University

College of Liberal Arts

# The Effect of Metformin and Insulin on Neuronal Degeneration in a Glucose/Streptozotocin Model of Alzheimer's Disease

A Thesis in Neuroscience

by

Katelyn Cusmano

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Bachelor in Arts

with Specialized Honors in Neuroscience

May 2014

# Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a debilitating disorder characterized by dementia and loss of functioning in daily activities. Recent epidemiological studies have suggested a link between type two diabetes mellitus (TD2M) and AD. TD2M is a condition in which the body is resistant to insulin causing a buildup of glucose in the body, a situation that has been thought to occur in the brain in patients with AD. Metformin is one current treatment for TD2M and is thought to help regulate glucose levels. If there is a link between TD2M and AD then Metformin could be a treatment for AD by alleviating insulin resistance in the brain, preventing oxidative stress on neurons, and avoiding neurodegeneration. In this study, fetal rat cortical neurons were cultured and treated with high levels of glucose and streptozotocin in the absence of insulin to create oxidative stress of the neurons similar to that in patients with both AD and TD2M. Insulin and Metformin were added in an attempt to rescue the neurons as measured by cell viability and by the stability of microtubules. While there were measurable decreases in response to the cell stressors, which were partially protected by insulin, Metformin had no measurable protective effect. Future experiments will focus on changing the dose and time course of Metformin exposure to see whether there are conditions that improve cellular response.

# **Table of Contents**

# Page Number

| Introduction   |    |
|--|----|
| Overview   | 1  |
| Economic Impact  | 3  |
| Pathology of AD  | 4  |
| Insulin Functioning in the Brain                           | 6  |
| Figure 1: Insulin Pathway                                  | 8  |
| Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β                                |    |
| <b>Figure 2:</b> GSK-3β Pathway                            | 11 |
| Streptozotocin   |    |
| Metformin  | 14 |
| Metformin in the Brain                                     | 15 |
| Present Study  | 17 |
| Materials and Methods                                      |    |
| Primary Cortical Neuron Culture                            |    |
| Treatment Conditions                                       |    |
| Glucose Concentration Tests                                | 19 |
| Streptozotocin Tests                                       |    |
| Metformin Tests  |    |
| MTS Assay  |    |
| Cell Staining and Fluorescence                             |    |
| Statistical Treatment of Data                              |    |
| Results  |    |
| Figure 3: Glucose concentration curve                      |    |
| Figure 4: Metformin concentration curve                    |    |
| Figure 5: Percent area coverage with glucose and Metformin |    |
| Figure 6: Mean intensity with glucose and Metformin        |    |
| Figure 7: Cell viability with glucose/STZ                  |    |
| Figure 8: Cell viability with glucose/STZ and Metformin    |    |
|  |    |

| Discussion       |    |
|------------------|----|
| Conclusion       |    |
| Acknowledgements | 46 |
| Literature Cited |    |

## Introduction

## Overview

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that currently affects over five million people in the United States and is responsible for approximately 500,000 deaths per year (Alzheimer's Disease Association 2013). The cause of Alzheimer's disease is unknown although it is thought that two hallmarks of the disease, amyloid beta plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, may play a role. Insulin signaling could contribute to this pathology through pathways regulating amyloid beta plaque and neurofibrillary tangle formation, like the glycogen synthase kinase 3β pathway. Recent studies have suggested a connection between insulin deficiency in type two diabetes mellitus (TD2M) and the progression of Alzheimer's disease (Corriea et al. 2011; De la Monte and Wands 2008). This project investigates whether an *in vitro* model of AD using elevated glucose levels and streptozotocin can cause neuronal degradation. It further studies the potential of insulin and the TD2M drug Metformin to alleviate the toxicity caused by glucose and streptozotocin.

# History of Alzheimer's disease

AD was first described by Alois Alzheimer in 1906 (Strassnig and Ganguli 2005). He presented a case study of a patient, Auguste D., who showed a slow loss of memory function, as well as changes in personality and decreased language ability. However, for approximately sixty years after this discovery, AD was typically only associated with the rare cases of presenile dementia. It was not until 1976 when AD became recognized as one of the most common forms of dementia (Katzman 1976). Today, AD is currently cited by the Center for

Disease Control and Prevention as the sixth leading cause of death in the United States (Hoyert and Xu 2012).

AD is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that currently affects over five million people in the United States (Alzheimer's Disease Association 2013). As such, it is the most prevalent form of dementia, compromising from 60-80% of all dementia cases (Aker et al. 2010). AD most often afflicts the elderly, although it is not limited to the aging population. Due to this, the prevalence of people living with AD will continue to increase as the baby boomer generation ages (Corriea et al. 2011). A report published by the Alzheimer's Disease Association states that someone in the United States is diagnosed with AD every sixty-eight seconds, and the prevalence of AD in the United States is projected to double by the year 2050 (Alzheimer's Disease Association 2013). There is currently no cure for the disease. Therefore, these projections point to the importance of research into the causes and treatment of AD in order to prevent the drastic increase in those afflicted with AD in the future.

Over the course of the disease, cell death within the brain can reach approximately 50% (Mayeux and Sano 1999). At this point, patients have a difficult time with basic functions including dressing, remembering their own name and names of family members, and taking medications (Mayeux and Sano 1999). Neuronal degradation begins in areas like the hippocampus and spreads throughout much of the brain including areas in the frontal and temporal cortex (Mayeux and Sano 1999; Mattson 2004). Most patients die from secondary health ailments including poor nutrition and bacterial infections (Akter et al. 2010).

There is currently no way to definitively diagnose AD until autopsy, when one can look for hallmarks indicating the presence of the disease. However, there are criteria that suggest probable AD. These symptoms include problems with memory, difficulty with solving problems, lack of accidents or injuries consistent with acute brain damage, and oftentimes personality changes (Mayeux and Sano 1999). The changes within the brain are broken down in autopsy into stages based on differences in neurofibrillary tangles, known as Braak stages (Braak and Braak 1995). In stages one and two, tangles are found primarily in the transentorhinal cortex. In stages three and four, tangles form in the hippocampus and other limbic areas. Stages five and six have extensive tangle formation in the neocortex. When other diseases and disorders have been ruled out and the criteria are met a patient may be diagnosed with probable AD.

## Economic impact

Not only is the rise in AD prevalence a public health problem, but it also has significant financial implications (Weiler 1987). As AD is a progressive disease, patients often live up to ten years after onset of early symptoms (Mayeux and Sano 1999). As a result, patients with AD typically need long term care by the late stages of the disease, consisting of in home care nurses or nursing homes. This type of intensive care costs families, insurers, and the government billions of dollars (Weiler 1987).

It is has been estimated that between hospital and hospice care, the cost of taking care of patients in the United States with AD was approximately \$183 billion in 2011, and that number continues to increase as the cost of healthcare and the number of people affected with the disease increase (Shearer et al. 2012). Within the United States, it is one of the most

costly medical conditions, ranking third behind cancer and heart disease (Alzheimer's Disease Association 2013). AD will continue to impact a multitude of people both physically and financially if a cure is not found.

## Pathology of AD

The cause of AD is unknown, although it is thought that two hallmarks of the disease, amyloid beta plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, play a causal role (Corriea et al. 2011). Amyloid precursor protein (APP) is a protein in cells that is cut by gamma secretase into a smaller chain of either forty or forty two amino acid monomers (Riek et al. 2001). Normally APP is cut at a length of forty monomers and fewer at the forty two monomer chain, since the latter is considered more toxic to cells in the body (Riek et al. 2001). When excess amyloid beta 42 is cut, these proteins accumulate in clumps in the brain of AD patients, forming plaques (Riek et al. 2001). While the direct role of plaques is still being determined, one effect of the accumulation of amyloid beta is the activation of microglia and the immune response, leading to the release of nitric acid and cytokines (Hardy and Selkoe 2002). In the process of this activation it is possible that neurons in the surrounding areas are also damaged.

There are many theories about the potential effect of plaques on the brain, including neuronal stress and ultimately cell death (Riek et al. 2001). However, the exact role that plaques play in AD is currently unknown. One study using a passive avoidance task in mice found that the injection of amyloid beta oligomers led to a decrease in avoidance in the task. The authors suggested that amyloid beta aggregation may lead to decreased synaptic density and difficulties with memory consolidation, a process that may also play a role in AD (Freier et al. 2011). In this way, plaques could contribute to memory loss.

Neurofibrillary tangles are caused by a dysfunction in tau protein. In healthy cells tau binds to microtubules within the cell, stabilizing the cytoskeleton and maintaining cell structure (Feinstein and Wilson 2005). The dynamic nature of microtubules is important for cell survival. Hyperphosphorylated tau protein leads to a break down in the cytoskeleton of neurons due to a decrease in interaction between microtubules and tau. This makes it difficult, if not impossible, for the neurons to function via communication with other neurons and often leads to cell death. In contrast with plaques, the number of tangles present in the brain has been shown to be positively correlated with progression of the disease (Schonheit, Zarski, and Ohm 2004).

Current research suggests a possible interaction between mechanistic pathways leading to plaques and those leading to tangles. Jin et al. (2011) purified amyloid beta dimers from human AD brains and exposed primary hippocampal neurons from fetal rats to the dimers. Western blots and immunhistological tests showed increased tau phosphorylation. This suggests that the addition of amyloid beta oligomers can lead to microtubule breakdown due to tau hyperphosphorylation. The exact mechanism behind this breakdown is currently unknown, although research is investigating this potential link. However, the number of tangles in the brain of an AD patient is typically associated with the number of years with the disease while no such correlation can be made for amyloid beta plaques (Schonheit, Zarski, and Ohm 2004). Because of this, there are likely some differences in the mechanistic pathway even if there could be an interaction. While the exact cause of the disease is unknown, there are potential pathways implicated in the development of AD, including the insulin pathway. Recent studies suggest that TD2M could be a potential risk factor for the development of AD (De la Monte and Wands 2008). Because of this, the insulin pathway could play a major role in the development of AD.

# Insulin Functioning in the Brain

The processes that occur within the brain require a substantial amount of energy, requiring significant glucose metabolism and oxygen consumption within the brain (Clarke and Sokoloff 1999). Over 20% of glucose in the body is used by the brain (Attwell and Laughlin 2001) and additionally approximately 156 µmol/100g brain tissue of oxygen is utilized every minute (Clarke and Sokoloff 1999). Because of the significant energy expenditure, mitochondria, organelles in the cell responsible for energy production, play an especially significant role in the brain. Because the brain utilizes the most energy of any organ within the body, disruptions in mitochondrial functioning can have significant consequences within the brain. There are three primary components of mitochondrial functioning that could contribute to AD pathology including the production of ATP, the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and the initiation of the apoptotic pathway (Moreira et al. 2007).

Insulin is a hormone that is critical for regulation of cellular glucose. Insulin binding to the  $\alpha$  subunit of insulin receptors in the cell membrane leads to cross phosphorylation of the  $\beta$  subunit of the receptor (figure 1; Berg et al 2012). Once activated, insulin-receptor substrates (IRS) bind to sites on the receptor and are phosphorylated. IRS anchors phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) to the membrane, initiating the addition of a phosphoryl group to phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) producing (PIP<sub>3</sub>). PIP<sub>3</sub> dependent protein kinase (PDK1) binds to PIP<sub>3</sub>, activating the kinase which in turn activates additional proteins including protein kinase B (Akt). Akt phosphorylates proteins responsible for the translocation of glucose transporter 4 (Glut 4) to the cell membrane, allowing for the intake of glucose.



Figure 1: The binding of insulin to insulin receptors activates insulin receptor tyrosine kinase, anchoring phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) to the membrane where it phosphorylates PIP<sub>2</sub> to PIP<sub>3</sub>. PIP<sub>3</sub> activates phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 (PDK1). PDK1 phosphorylates protein kinase B (AKT) that translocates a vesicle containing the Glut-4 receptor to the plasma membrane leading to the uptake of glucose.

The insulin pathway plays a significant role in the function of learning and memory as well as synaptic plasticity. Stranahan et al. (2008) fed rats diets high in fat, glucose, and high-fructose corn syrup over a period of eight months. The rats fed these diets exhibited signs of insulin resistance including high fasting glucose levels. Performance on the Morris Water Maze significantly decreased in rats with the altered diet in comparison to control rats, indicating problems with spatial learning and memory. In this way, possible deficits within the insulin pathway are tied to decreases in cognitive functioning. Furthermore, when stimulated, CA1 hippocampal neurons of rats with the high fat, high glucose diets showed reduced long term potentiation (LTP) suggesting a decrease in synaptic plasticity in this region (Stranahan et al. 2008). This research suggests that changes within the brain associated with insulin pathway deficits could be tied to deficits in aspects of neuronal functioning typically associated with learning and memory.

AD patients exhibit decreased insulin levels in the brain that correlate with decreased cognitive functioning in humans (Laron 2009). Insulin's role in glucose uptake decreases glucose metabolism in the brains of patients with AD (Mosconi 2005). There are also differences in insulin gene expression in AD. Jackson et al. (2013) used an *APP*<sup>swe</sup>*Psen*<sup>de9</sup> mouse strain, a model typically used to represent AD, to study the genomic changes between an AD model and the normal brain. They found changes in gene expression in the insulin signaling pathway, specifically downregulation of gene expression of *Irs4* for an insulin receptor substrate protein, IRS4. De la Monte and Wands (2008) examined this even further by measuring insulin gene expression at different Braak stages in frontal lobe tissue. As Braak stages progressed, there were reductions in insulin, IGF-1, and IGF-2 receptor gene

expression. Changes in insulin levels and gene expression implicate the insulin pathway as a contributing factor to AD.

# Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3B

Insulin has been shown to regulate the formation of both neurofibrillary tangles and amyloid beta plaques through the glycogen-synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK- $3\beta$ ) pathway, indicating a potential link between dysfunction in insulin signaling leading to AD pathology (Takashima 2006). Insulin binding to insulin receptors within cell membranes results in the cross phosphorylation of the insulin receptor and the binding of IRS. IRS anchors PI3K to the membrane and leads to the downstream activation of the protein kinase B (Akt) (figure 2). Akt inhibits GSK- $3\beta$  which then inhibits activation of the apoptotic pathway, phosphorylation of tau, and regulation of the amyloid beta levels (Takashima 2006). Decreased insulin signaling increases the GSK  $3\beta$  activity, causing increased hyperphosphorylation of tau, and ultimately the formation of tangles. In addition, the insulin and GSK  $3\beta$  pathways have been linked to the formation of plaques (Maesako et al. 2011). Dysfunction in insulin signaling could lead to increased activation of GSK  $3\beta$  and thus increased accumulation of amyloid beta 42 leading to plaque formation within the brain.



Figure 2: Insulin binding leads to dimerization of the insulin receptor, activating PI3K. PI3K phosphorylates AKT, inhibiting GSK3β. When active, GSK3β is responsible for the phosphorylation of tau and activating pathways that regulate amyloid beta.

#### AD Model

### Streptozotocin

Streptozotocin is a nitrosourea compound from *Streptomyces griseus* (Wei et al. 2003) that is often used as a model for diabetes due to cytotoxic effects on beta cells (Lester et al. 2006). Streptozotocin functions by producing reactive oxygen species (ROS) (De la Monte and Wands 2008). ROS are oxygen molecules that contain unpaired electrons, making them much more reactive than oxygen molecules containing paired electrons (Halliwell 1989). In normal functioning cells, the production of ROS is minimized by cytochrome c oxidase which is responsible for containing ROS within the electron transport chain. However, when released these ROS lead to DNA damage through interactions with the purine and pyrimidine bases that make up DNA leading to mutations and even breaks within DNA strands (Cox et al. 2012). These disruptions can have serious implications for the cell and eventually lead to apoptosis.

Streptozotocin is used to model TD2M in *in vivo* models because it is able to cross the cell membrane of cells that produce insulin, known as islet cells (De la Monte and Wands 2008). Within these cells, streptozotocin has been shown to lead to the production of ROS. The production of ROS can lead to damage such as DNA mutations in islet cells that can cause diabetes-like pathology.

Streptozotocin has been used as a TD2M model in neuronal culture to study neuronal morphology (Martinez-Tellez et al. 2005). They administered streptozotocin to Sprague Dawley rats and after sixteen weeks removed and stained the brains using a Golgi-Cox methodology. There were significant changes within the dendrites of pyramidal neurons including a decrease in both the length of dendrites as well as the number of spines. These changes occurred in the prefrontal cortex, the hippocampus, and the occipital cortex. This suggests that treatment with streptozotocin can cause significant changes in the neuronal structure within the brain that could lead to neuronal degradation.

Recent studies have suggested a connection between TD2M and AD (Messier, Claude, Teutenberg 2005; De la Monte and Wands 2008). Diabetics are more likely than the general population to develop AD (De la Monte and Wands 2008). It has further been suggested that insulin resistance similar to that seen in TD2M mellitus is present in the brain with some researchers calling AD "Type Three Diabetes" (Messier, Claude, Teutenberg 2005; De la Monte and Wands 2008).

If AD is a form of diabetes, there will be an accumulation of extracellular glucose in the brain due to insulin resistance. Extremely high glucose levels can lead to cell death (Wang et al. 2010). Correia et al. (2011) showed that streptozotocin can be administered to rats to create a brain state that is insulin resistant similar to what is hypothesized to occur in AD. This insulin resistance leads to memory loss and problems with cognitive functioning in rodents much like the symptoms of an AD patient. This means that a model based on streptozotocin may be useful to determine possible treatments for the disease.

Previous experiments have demonstrated that insulin can protect neurons from neurodegeneration due to streptozotocin. De la Monte and Wands (2008) demonstrated that the insulin resistant state created through the use of streptozotocin can be alleviated through the use of insulin treatments similar to those used to treat TD2M. They further postulated that AD is another form of diabetes specific to the brain. Most of the current experiments on the subject use *in vivo* rat models after exposure to a drug to create Alzheimer's like models. The rats are assessed in performing behavioral tests before and after administration of therapeutic agents in an attempt to test the memory loss symptoms. However, very few cortical cell culture models have been performed. An advantage of using *in vitro* assessments is that it allows for a direct observation of the effect of insulin signaling on primary neuronal cultures that were stimulated with glucose and streptozotocin. An increase in insulin signaling may decrease the build-up of extracellular glucose in turn minimizing oxidative stress. For this reason, an *in vitro* model will be used in this research as opposed to the *in vivo* model used in most studies. I will combine streptozotocin with high levels of glucose similar to that postulated to be present in the brain in AD.

# Metformin

A current treatment for TD2M is the drug Metformin (Turner et al. 1999). Metformin is a biguanide oral medication that has been shown to decrease gluconeogenesis, as well as potentiate the effect of insulin in the periphery of patients with TD2M (Klip and Leiter 1990). Metformin has been shown to decrease plasma glucose levels by as much as 30% (Kirpichnikov, McFarlane, Sowers 2002). Some studies have reported that this occurs through an increase in insulin binding to glucose transporters in cell membranes. However, the exact mechanism is still being studied (Klip and Leiter 1990). Most studies point to a mechanism involving an increase in glucose transport, primarily through GLUT 4 transporters, a glucose transporter also found in the brain that is insulin sensitive (Klip and Leiter 1990). Metformin activates 5' AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in the body (Fryer, Parbu-Patel, Carling 2002). Studies suggest that Metformin decreases TD2M symptoms through the activation of AMPK and may have glucose lowering effects. This is due to an increase in muscle glucose uptake and a decrease in hepatic glucose production which occurs through the inhibition of gluconeogenesis (Kirpichnikov, McFarlane, Sowers 2002). In addition, there is evidence that Metformin also decreases the oxidation of fatty acids (Kirpichnikov, McFarlane, Sowers 2002). This is significant as oxidation of fatty acids, such as those found in visceral adipose tissue, often leads to gluconeogenesis and the production of glucose, thereby increasing glucose concentrations. Decreased oxidation leads to a decrease in hepatic glucose levels.

# Metformin in the brain

Metformin was previously used in a TD2M model to look at changes in the dentate gyrus in a rat model (Hwang et al 2010). Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rats, which are used as a model of TD2M, were used in comparison to Zucker diabetic control (ZLC) rats. They determined that there were elevated blood glucose levels in the ZDF rats in comparison to the ZLC rats. In addition, these elevated levels were reduced by the addition of Metformin, although not to the level of the control. Metformin treatment also attenuated the decrease in neuronal cell proliferation.

It is still unknown whether Metformin can cross the blood-brain barrier or if it can be modified to cross the blood-brain barrier (El Mir et al. 2007). Recent research has shown that in addition to its effectiveness as a TD2M treatment, this drug may also have neuroprotective effects in a model using prolonged chronic insulin exposure to create insulin resistance in a mouse neuroblastoma cell line (Gupta, Bisht, Dey 2011). The investigators found that this insulin resistance also led to impaired glucose uptake. Further, extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1 and ERK2), involved in the activation of apoptosis within the cell, showed increased activation under insulin resistant conditions. In addition, there was an approximately 30% increase of secreted levels of amyloid beta 42 within these neurons. The addition of Metformin showed enhanced AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation, suggesting that Metformin affected neurons by activating AMPK as has been previously suggested in the periphery. Amyloid beta 42 levels decreased by 42% after Metformin treatment and ERK activation decreased. These findings suggest that Metformin may decrease neuronal death through the insulin signaling pathway. It also suggests that through this pathway Metformin can improve pathologies considered to play a role in AD, like increased amyloid beta 42 levels.

Another proposed mechanism of neuroprotection involves inhibiting mitochondrial processes leading to apoptosis. El Mir et al. (2007) found that Metformin prevented cell death from the antitumor drug etoposide in a dose dependent manner. The authors suggest that this neural protection occurs by decreasing permeability transition pore (PTP) opening and therefore decreasing the release of cytochrome c, the release of which typically triggers the apoptotic pathway. Other studies found similar results concerning the inhibition of apoptosis. It has also been suggested that this occurs through the repression of caspase 9 which decreases the cleavage of caspase 3 (Ullah et al. 2012). Caspase 3 typically cleaves poly ADP-ribose polymerase 1 (PARP-1) which leads to the cleavage of other proteins that progress the cell through the apoptotic pathway. Metformin has also been shown to increase

the expression of Bcl-2, a protein shown to decrease apoptotic signals (Ullah et al. 2012). Furthermore, Metformin decreases Bax expression, a gene responsible for increasing apoptotic signaling (Ullah et al. 2012). It has also been suggested that Metformin has the potential to protect against neuronal degradation by attenuating elevated amyloid beta 42 levels in db/db mice, as well as attenuating the increase in the tau kinase JNK functioning in db/db mice models (Li et al. 2002). Due to its use as a diabetes treatment, as well as its neuroprotective effects, current and future research will examine the possibility of Metformin alone and in conjunction with insulin as a possible method to alleviate neuronal toxicity.

## Present Study

The first component of this project was establishing a cell culture model showing neuronal toxicity through potential players in the insulin pathway. High levels of glucose were hypothesized to cause neuronal toxicity. Because of its known toxic effects on cells, streptozotocin was also predicted to have neurotoxic effects. Following the application of each agent in isolation, an AD model was established by combining streptozotocin and high levels of glucose. The combination of streptozotocin and glucose was predicted to cause toxicity and neuronal degeneration through oxidative stress within the cells.

Once a model was established, the role of insulin was studied. It was hypothesized that insulin deprivation causes neuronal toxicity and that the application of insulin would decrease oxidative stress on neurons. If this is the case, then neuronal death in an AD model combining streptozotocin and glucose was hypothesized to reduce with the addition of insulin. After gaining a better understanding of the effect of insulin on cell viability this project investigated whether the TD2M drug Metformin, independently and in conjunction with insulin, could have rescue effects on cells and prevent neural degeneration. It was hypothesized that if Metformin decreased apoptotic signals in cells this would prevent neural degeneration in an AD model combining streptozotocin and glucose.

#### **Materials and Methods**

## **Primary Cortical Neuron Cultures**

Twenty four and ninety six well clear plates were prepared using poly-L-lysine overnight and then washing three times with Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) to remove poly-L-lysine residue. Poly-L-lysine provides an adhesive surface for neurons to attach to during plating. We cultured primary neurons through dissection of an E17 pregnant Sprague Dawley female rat. Then we removed the fetuses, separated their heads, harvested their brains and dissociated the brain tissue in a solution of trypsin for five minutes.

Tissue was then washed in HBSS two times in order to remove any excess trypsin. Tissue was dissociated by a flame tipped pipette in plating media (neurobasal media, Penicillin Streptomycin, Fetal Bovine Serum). We plated my primary neuronal cultures at a concentration of 1 x  $10^{5}$  cells/well in clear 96 well plates for use with 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (MTS) assays.

Cells were cared for with growth media containing Glutamax (neurobasal media, Penicillin Streptomycin, b27 supplement, Glutamax) for the first five days in an incubator (37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>). After five days, growth media without Glutamax was used. Cells were allowed to grow for two weeks before testing began. Neuronal health was maintained with replacement of half the growth media present in each well every other day. This provided the neurons with a new supply of necessary nutrients while keeping many of the neurotrophic factors released by the neurons to further neuronal development.

| Day 1   | Day 3  | Day 5   | Day 7  | Day 9   | Day 11               | Day 13               | Day 14   | Day 16                        |
|---|--|---|--|---|----------------------|----------------------|--|-------------------------------|
| Dissection-<br>24 and 96<br>well plates<br>made.<br>Growth<br>media with<br>Glutamax<br>used. | All cells fed<br>with growth<br>media<br>containing<br>Glutamax. | All cells fed<br>with growth<br>media<br>without<br>Glutamax. | 1-week<br>cells<br>stimulated,<br>2-week<br>cells fed. | 1-week<br>cells MTS<br>assay run,<br>2-week<br>cells fed. | 2-week<br>cells fed. | 2-week<br>cells fed. | 2-week<br>cells<br>stimulated,<br>24-well<br>plate fixed<br>and stained. | 2-week<br>cells MTS<br>assay. |

 Table 1: Timeline of experimental procedure

# **Treatment Conditions**

# *Glucose Concentration Tests*

After one or two weeks we added 100 microliters aqueous insulin free glucose of increasing concentrations (75-150 mM) to the wells in order to stress the cells similarly to the oxidative stress on neurons seen in AD. Half of the conditions were co-treated with insulin (100 nM) in order to assess whether insulin can rescue neurons stressed from glucose. Cells were stimulated in an incubator for forty eight hours prior to data collection.

After one or two weeks we added 100 microliters of various combinations of solutions containing streptozotocin (STZ), glucose, and insulin (table 1). Glucose concentrations tested included 125 and 150 mM glucose. Streptozotocin concentrations include 100  $\mu$ M and 1 mM.

The combination of glucose and streptozotocin was used in order to stress the cells similarly to the possible oxidative stress on neurons seen in AD if AD is in part due to insulin resistance within the brain. Neurons were co-treated with insulin (100 nM) in order to measure whether insulin can rescue neurons stressed from glucose and streptozotocin. Cells were stimulated for forty eight hours.

## Metformin Tests

In order to determine Metformin concentrations that are not toxic to cells we performed a concentration curve with concentrations ranging from 0-1000  $\mu$ M in 100  $\mu$ M increments in standard growth media and insulin free growth media.

After two weeks we performed tests identical to the streptozotocin tests but with the addition of 400  $\mu$ M Metformin. Neurons were co-treated with insulin (100 nM) in order to measure whether insulin can rescue neurons stressed from glucose. Cells were stimulated for forty eight hours. Glucose concentrations tested included 125 and 150 mM glucose. Streptozotocin concentrations include 100  $\mu$ M and 1 mM.

#### MTS Assay

After a 48 hour treatment of glucose and insulin, we measured cell viability using a dye called 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (MTS). We added 20 microliters to each well. When first added, the dye is bright yellow in color. As the neurons metabolize the dye the color turns a dark purple, allowing less light through the well. The more functioning, healthy neurons in each well, the more dye will be metabolized. A plate reader read the plates at 490 nm after four hours of incubation which then provided absorbance readings for the amount of light that went through each well. Results suggested which wells have more neurons that metabolized dye and which suffered significant cell death. Absorbance readings were converted to percent cell survival by standardizing each condition to the control which allowed for comparison across plates.

## **Cell Staining and Fluorescence**

We fixed cells in the 24 well plate using 4% paraformaldeyde for twenty minutes. Cultures were then washed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times for three minutes apiece. 0.5% Triton-100 was applied to cells for 10 minutes in order to create pores in the neuronal membranes. After one wash with PBS we added primary monoclonal anti-acetylated tubulin antibody produced in mice for one hour. After an hour, we removed the primary antibody and washed cells three times with PBS before adding the secondary anti-mouse IgG fragment-Cy3 antibody produced in sheep. We incubated cells for one hour following application of the secondary antibody and washed cells three times with PBS. We then visualized cells under a florescent microscope and measured mean intensity and percent area coverage.

# **Statistical Treatment of Data**

All graphs were made in Excel. We evaluated data using statistical testing. A multifactorial ANOVA test allowed me to identify main effects and interactions. Tukey post hoc tests were run on all significant effects. All statistical tests were completed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS).

# Results

In order to establish the model of neural degeneration that would be used for all subsequent experiments we first tested increasing levels of glucose with and without insulin. Cell viability was measured using an MTS assay. Toxicity levels varied when two week fetal rat neurons were treated for 48 hours with increasing concentrations of glucose with and without 100 nm insulin (figure 3). In a 2x5 2-way ANOVA there were main effects of insulin (p=0.001) and glucose (p=0.000) but no interaction between insulin and glucose (p=0.301). At 25 mM glucose (the amount of glucose in standard growth media), there was no toxicity observed (figure 3). In addition, at 100 mM glucose with insulin there was little measureable cell death (p=0.423). At 150 mM glucose, there were toxic effects in the no insulin condition in comparison to the control (p=0.034), but not in the insulin containing condition (p=0.240). In addition, at 175 mM glucose, there was decreased neuronal cell viability in the insulin deprived condition (p=0.005) in comparison to all other glucose concentrations that increased with the addition of insulin.



Figure 3: The percent cell viability as measured by an MTS assay of two week fetal rat neurons stimulated for forty eight hours with increasing concentrations of glucose with and without insulin. Data are mean +/- SEM. (N=5) Main effect of insulin and main effect of glucose p < 0.05.

Once levels of glucose toxicity were determined a concentration curve for Metformin was performed in growth media with and without insulin to determine concentrations of Metformin that would not cause neuronal toxicity. The range of concentrations tested was chosen based on previous research (El Mir et al. 2007; Ullah et al. 2012). An MTS assay was performed to assess cell viability. In insulin containing growth media, there was no effect of Metformin (p=0.304) in concentrations ranging from 100  $\mu$ M to 1 mM (Figure 4). In insulin free media, there was an effect of Metformin (p = 0.02). There was an increase in cell viability between the 0 mM Metformin in insulin free media and 200, 500, 600, and 750  $\mu$ M Metformin (p=0.02, p=0.01, p=0.01, p=0.03).



Figure 4: Cell viability as measured by an MTS assay of Metformin concentrations ranging from 0 to 1 mM in insulin containing growth media with and without insulin. Data are mean +/- SEM. (N=6)

400 $\mu$ M Metformin was chosen for subsequent experiments because it did not cause neuronal toxicity and would provide a mid-range assessment of the impact of Metformin. Metformin at this concentration was used with high levels of glucose to determine the ability of Metformin to protect cells against the toxic effect of glucose. Cellular health was assessed using an acetylated tubulin stain to visualize stable microtubules. From this stain percent area coverage of stable microtubules, a potential indicator of neuronal health, was measured. A 2x2 2-way ANOVA was performed on assays of percent area coverage of acetylated tubulin stain. In measures of percent area coverage of microtubules there was a main effect of glucose (p = 0.002; figure 5). There was a decrease between control conditions (growth media containing 25 mM glucose) and those containing 125 mM glucose. There was no effect of Metformin on percent area coverage (p=0.31).



Figure 5: The percent area coverage of tubulin stain in control (25 mM) and high (125 mM) glucose concentrations with and without 400  $\mu$ M Metformin. Error is standard error of the mean. (N = 16). \* = p < 0.05.

In addition to percent area coverage, other measures were used to evaluate the potential of Metformin to protect against the toxic effects of elevated glucose levels. Cellular health was assessed using measures of the mean intensity of the acetylated tubulin stain. A 2x2 2-way ANOVA showed that there was a main effect of glucose (p = 0.00; figure 6). Control conditions with growth media containing 25 mM glucose had a greater mean intensity of stain than those containing 125 mM glucose. There was no main effect of Metformin (p = 0.15).



Figure 6: The average intensity of tubulin stain of microtubules in control (25 mM) and high (125 mM) glucose concentrations with and without 400  $\mu$ M Metformin of an acetylated tubulin stain. Main effect of glucose (p =0.00. Data are mean +/- SEM. (N = 16) \* = p < 0.05

Once neuronal toxicity due to high glucose levels was established, neuronal health was tested under conditions containing a combination of glucose and STZ to create a more accurate model of diabetic-like conditions within cell culture. Cellular health was assessed using an MTS assay. When streptozotocin was added to the glucose/insulin combination in two week fetal rat neurons (figure 7) in growth media containing 25 mM glucose, a 2x2x2 3-way ANOVA showed a main effect of both insulin, glucose, and STZ (p<0.05). The insulin deprived conditions had more cell death than those conditions containing insulin (p=0.00). Glucose containing conditions had lower percent cell survival than conditions without STZ (p=0.025).



Figure 7: Effect of 100 mM glucose and 100  $\mu$ M Streptozotocin (STZ) separate and in combination on neuronal toxicity with and without insulin treatment (100 nM) in two week fetal rat neurons. Percent cell viability obtained from an MTS assay. Data are mean +/- SEM. (N = 10). Percent cell viability standardized to growth media condition containing insulin. \* = main effect, p < 0.05.

The toxicity caused by the combination of glucose and STZ created a model of neuronal degeneration in diabetic-like conditions. Metformin was added to this model to examine its potential in rescuing neurons from the toxicity of these stressors. Cellular health was measured using an MTS assay of cell viability. Overall, there was a main effect of insulin (p=0.00; figure 8). Conditions containing insulin had higher percent cell viability than conditions without insulin suggesting that insulin deficiency can be toxic to cells. There were also main effects of glucose and STZ (p=0.00 and p=0.005). There was no effect of Metformin (p=0.19).



Figure 8: Effect of glucose and streptozotocin separate and in combination on percent cell viability with and without insulin treatment (100 nM) and with and without the addition of 400  $\mu$ M Metformin in two week fetal rat neurons. Percent cell viability obtained through MTS assay. (N = 10). Data are mean +/- SEM. Main effect of insulin, glucose, and STZ (p<0.05). Percent cell viability standardized to growth media condition containing insulin. \* = main effect, p < 0.05

# Discussion

#### Model of Degeneration

The first goal of this research was to isolate a model of AD using high levels of extracellular glucose and STZ. We chose to focus on disruptions in the insulin pathway because problems in the insulin pathway in the brain have been implicated in AD including a correlation between decreased insulin levels and decreased cognitive functioning (Laron 2009). In conjunction with changes in insulin levels, a link between TD2M and AD could suggest an insulin resistant brain state in AD (De la Monte and Wands 2008).

Insulin's role in glucose transporter translocation suggests that creating a cell culture model using high levels of glucose could mirror some of the effects of irregular functioning of the insulin pathway. In order to test this we first studied the effect of high levels of glucose on neuronal health (figure 3). By adding additional glucose to growth media it was possible to see the effect of high levels of extracellular glucose on overall cell viability (figure 3) and it was hypothesized that high levels of glucose would lead to neural degeneration. To assess changes in neuronal health we used an MTS assay to measure cell. Cell viability provides a general measure of the number and health of the neurons in culture and serves as an overall comparison of cellular health across conditions.

Control conditions contained low levels of extracellular glucose (25 mM). Cells in the body, including neurons, need glucose to provide the energy necessary to survive and maintain function (Berg et al. 2012). However, toxicity was seen in conditions with high glucose conditions, including 150 and 175 mM (figure 3), which decreased cell viability to

close to 60%. This suggests that a buildup of extracellular glucose, as would occur in a problem with insulin signaling within the brain, can produce toxic conditions severe enough to cause neuronal death. A buildup of extracellular glucose could lead to increased intracellular glucose uptake, thereby producing oxidative stress within the cell (Tomlinson and Gardiner 2008). One proposed mechanism for this is through the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAP kinase) pathway (Tomlinson and Gardiner 2008). High extracellular glucose levels can lead to intracellular changes in pathways including activating the MAP kinase pathway (Tomlinson and Gardiner 2008). MAP kinase is involved in regulating pathways including cellular growth and apoptosis (Berg et al. 2012). The activation of MAP kinase by elevated extracellular glucose levels could lead to the downstream activation of the apoptotic pathway and cellular toxicity. Oxidative stress can lead to the formation of reactive oxygen species which can cause structural damage within the cell and lead to the induction of the apoptotic pathway (Moreira et al. 2007; Berg et al. 2012). Furthermore, once activated, oxidative stress can be responsible for the progression of the apoptotic pathway by causing the release of cytochrome c, leading to cell death (Wang 2001). It is possible that cell death seen at the high levels of glucose including 150 mM and 175 mM could be working through the induction of the apoptotic pathway.

Glucose toxicity was shown to be mitigated in conditions containing insulin at the low and moderate glucose concentrations (figure 3). However, at extremely high concentrations of glucose, namely 175 mM, insulin was no longer effective at preventing the toxic effects. It is likely that at these high concentrations the effect on neuronal health is severe and the cellular pathways are disrupted to a point where the addition of insulin does not have a sufficient effect on the improvement of cell health. In this case, mitochondria may be producing reactive oxygen species at a rate that cannot be protected against (Tomlinson and Gardiner 2008) or the strength of the signal leading into the apoptotic pathway may be too robust to overcome. To test these hypotheses in the future, assays testing mitochondrial health, such as a JC1 mitochondrial dye which measures mitochondrial membrane potential could be used. This technique could be used to measure the overall percentage of healthy mitochondria in each condition.

In addition, STZ, a drug often used as a model for TD2M, could cause neuronal death through production of ROS. STZ destroys pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells and has been used to model diabetes in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies (De la Monte and Wands 2008). Administering STZ directly into the brain via intracerebroventricular injection (ICV) injection simulates this insulin resistance seen in AD brains and has been used as a model of AD in past literature (De la Monte and Wands 2008). Our laboratory has been studying the effects of STZ on isolated rat cortical neurons as a potential *in vitro* model of AD. It was predicted that a cell culture model combining glucose and STZ would decrease cell viability.

Once we were able to identify extracellular glucose concentrations that showed toxicity and those toxic conditions that had the potential to be reversed we were able to use these concentrations in additional studies. The next step was to study the effect of the high glucose concentrations in conjunction with STZ (figure 7). STZ is often used in biological models because it causes disruptions in the insulin pathway similar to those in TD2M. Treatment with STZ has been shown to lead to the production of ROS which can lead to destruction of insulin producing cells (Like and Rossini 1976). In addition, when

administered to rats, STZ has been shown to create an insulin resistant brain state in conjunction with memory loss and cognitive problems (Correia et al. 2011). Previous research in the lab of Dr. Roger Knowles has suggested that there are still many components within the insulin pathway that need to be tested to determine if STZ causes insulin resistance and where in the insulin pathway this occurs (Rachel Masia, Honors Thesis 2013). Past work showed that in isolation, a STZ concentration of 100µM produced neuronal toxicity and was chosen for use in this study based on past research (Rachel Masia, Honors Thesis 2013).

In addition, STZ caused approximately 20% cell death in two week old neurons (figure 7). However, there was not increased toxicity when glucose and STZ were combined. This indicates that glucose and STZ could produce toxic effects through similar pathways within the brain. If elevated glucose levels are causing the production of ROS or leading to the activation of MAP kinase and STZ causes toxicity in the same manner, than there would not be an additive toxic effect on neurons. It is also possible that one of the compounds is working at a maximal effect, decreasing neuronal viability to a point where no additional opportunity for the other compound to exert an effect. Another explanation could be that one compound is working upstream of the other, preventing the ability of the other compound to contribute to cell viability downstream. A better understanding of how STZ exerts its effects in the brain would provide more insight into this issue. In the body, STZ enters pancreatic  $\beta$  cells through glucose transporters and causes DNA damage, leading to  $\beta$  cell apoptosis (Szkudelski 2001). However, the mechanism of action in the brain is unknown, and future studies will attempt to identify the STZ pathway of neurodegeneration.

The effect of the presence and absence of insulin was also considered in the models of toxicity using glucose and the combination of glucose and STZ. There was an effect of insulin in both models (figures 1 and 7). The absence of insulin produced toxic effects that were rescued by the addition of insulin. Because of the many functions of insulin within neurons, without insulin, toxicity could be caused by dysfunction in glucose transport regulation, GSK-3 $\beta$  regulation, and/or oxidative stress (Berg et al. 2012; Maesako et al. 2011; Moreira 2007). To further assess these alternatives, a molecular probe for reactive oxygen species, such as dichlorodihydrofluorescin diacetate (DCF) could be used to measure ROS levels (Lee et al. 1999). In addition, a western blot could be performed to assess relative amounts of GSK-3 $\beta$  present (Taylor et al. 2013).

Because there is toxicity in the glucose/STZ model under insulin free conditions (figure 7) this model was used to assess treatments used for TD2M. The glucose/STZ model provided levels of cell viability that were lowered, but not to the point that was unrecoverable. This model was used with the addition of Metformin with and without insulin (figure 8) to assess the potential of Metformin to prevent neural degeneration.

This AD model is unique in that it approaches neuronal toxicity through dysfunction in insulin pathways. Other models for AD have been used in the literature including glutamate and amyloid beta. Glutamate is an excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain (Kandel et al. 2010) that in excess can produce toxic effects. Research has suggested that there is lower glutamate reuptake in AD patients which could cause excitotoxicity and contribute to the development of the AD model of glutamate (Hynd et al. 2004). Amyloid beta is another common model of AD because aggregates of amyloid beta form plaques in the brain of AD patients (Riek et al. 2001). However, because the cause of AD is unknown and the exact contribution of glutamate and amyloid beta is still to be determined, the glucose/STZ model of AD provides a new approach to neurodegeneration in AD.

## Metformin Intervention

It was predicted that the TD2M drug Metformin could further alleviate cell toxicity caused by glucose and streptozotocin by potentiating the effect of insulin within the cells. Metformin is a drug currently used to treat TD2M. However, its potential as an aid in the prevention of neural degeneration has been suggested in recent literature (Gupta, Bisht, Dey 2011). Concentrations of Metformin used in cell culture have differed drastically ranging fro m 1 0 0 $\mu$ M (El Mir et al. 2007) to 3.2 mM (Gupta, Bisht, Dey 2011). We chose concentrations of Metformin that were not toxic. We did this in growth media as well as insulin free media (figure 4) and tested concentrations ranging from 50  $\mu$ M to 1 mM. There was no toxicity seen at these concentrations. We chose to continue using 400  $\mu$ M Metformin as it was in the range that did not appear toxic to neuronal health.

Our data show that Metformin did not reduce toxicity caused by glucose and glucose/STZ. An anti-acetylated tubulin stain provided information on neurite growth and stability. Acetylated tubulin is present in stable microtubules (Palazzo et al. 2003) and visualization with this stain allowed for measures of area coverage of neurites (figure 5) as well as intensity of stain (figure 6). Neurons that are breaking down due to apoptosis and poor neuronal health will likely have less acetylated tubulin than healthy neurons (Schulze et al. 1987). 125 mM glucose significantly decreased percent area coverage by 16% and mean intensity of stain by 125 (figures 5 and 6). A decrease in percent area coverage could be

indicative of neural degeneration as stable microtubules break down (Palazzo et al. 2003). In addition, a decrease in mean intensity of stain suggests decreased presence of acetylated tubulin and unstable microtubules which could also indicate neuronal toxicity (Palazzo et al. 2003). At 400  $\mu$ M Metformin did not rescue cells from glucose toxicity as there was no difference in percent area coverage and mean intensity of the anti-acetylated tubulin stain (figures 5 and 6). However, there was an unexpectedly high decrease in percent area coverage due to glucose (figure 5) which could indicate that the cells were extremely sensitive to glucose. Future experiments could use lower concentrations of glucose to examine any potential rescue effects of Metformin on microtubule stability. Measurements of microtubule stability are important because a treatment that can increase the cell viability but does not have an effect on the cells' ability to develop neurites and communicate would not be helpful.

In measures of cell viability, there was also no difference in conditions with and without Metformin (figure 8). While there was a decrease in conditions without insulin, these effects were rescued by the addition of insulin but not the addition of Metformin. Metformin also did not alleviate toxic effects due to STZ and glucose. Because we used a concentration of Metformin lower than suggested in the literature, we could use higher concentrations of Metformin in future studies to see whether it is more effective at protecting against neuronal degeneration. At higher concentrations Metformin could decrease cytochrome c release as was suggested by El Mir et al (2007) and decrease apoptotic signaling.

There were challenges encountered over the course of the experiment that may have contributed to the lack of effect on neuronal health by Metformin. In order to promote neuronal growth, cells were maintained for the first five days in growth media containing Glutamax. Glutamax helps stabilize the neuronal environment by decreasing ammonia production and maintaining baseline levels of L-glutamine in the media (Life Technologies 2011). This will allow cells to remain healthy and functioning for longer periods of time. However, once we began using Glutamax in growth media the neurons grew too confluent and concentrations of glucose that were previously toxic no longer showed toxicity. Because of this we had to slightly alter our model, using slightly higher concentrations of glucose or using the higher end of most of our glucose concentration curves (mostly 175 mM glucose) as well as by cutting the concentration of cells plated in half.

In addition, we had problems with contamination of cell culture. While we supplement our growth media with Penicillin Streptomycin, this does not prevent against all bacteria and fungi. All cells are cultured and maintained in sterile conditions and all media and solutions filtered before treatment. However, it is still possible for neuronal health to be compromised by bacteria despite using aseptic techniques, and we did lose some plates that were intended for use with STZ alone and STZ and Metformin. The information from these plates would have filled critical gaps in our knowledge.

Furthermore, we did at times have trouble with our cells developing sufficiently. There were times when there were few neurons and those that were there had minimal development of neurites. One hypothesis could be the Penicillin Streptomycin that we use in our media to prevent against bacterial infection is having toxic effects on the neuronal cultures. Studies have demonstrated that these antibiotics could actually prevent neuronal development by causing mitochondria damage within the cells by altering the electrophysiological prosperities of the neurons (Bahrami and Janahmadi 2013). Future experiments could test similar conditions as those in this study without the use of antibiotics or with significantly less antibiotics.

It is also possible that Metformin does not protect against neuronal degeneration caused by glucose/STZ or that the measures we used to assess differences in neuronal health did not capture other changes that may have been present. In addition, acetylated tubulin is not necessarily a measure of neuronal health as overly acetylated tubulin might mean that a cell is locked into place and exhibits decreased plasticity which is also not beneficial for the cell. There are other assays we could use to assess neuronal health. One avenue could be to test mitochondrial health of neurons using a JC1 dye. As mitochondria are the powerhouse for the cell, poorly functioning mitochondria could indicate unhealthy neurons. Radioactive labels could be used to assess differences in ROS production (Lee et al. 1999). In addition, it is possible that the 48 hour time course used was not effective but a longer time course with Metformin treatment could provide a reduction in neural toxicity from glucose and STZ.

Alterations in experimental design could provide additional information on the effect of glucose, STZ, and Metformin on neuronal health. In preliminarily studies (data not included) with glucose, streptozotocin, and insulin we originally did not see toxicity in the insulin free growth media condition. To examine whether this was due to no toxicity in insulin deprived conditions or just a lack of removing all of the growth media containing insulin, we began washing plates with insulin free growth media before stimulation. This assured that no growth media with insulin remained in wells during stimulation. After this change, we saw

approximately 15% cell death due to insulin deprivation. I would like to repeat my initial glucose/insulin experiments following this procedural change.

One way to improve insight into the insulin pathway within the brain as well as the mechanism of Metformin would be to measure endogenous insulin concentrations. While we tried to control for the amount of insulin added to each condition by using insulin free media and adding in a controlled amount of insulin (100 nM) this does not take into account that the neurons are secreting their own insulin. It would be helpful in the future to measure this endogenous insulin concentration through an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for more precise measures of insulin concentration within each condition.

Furthermore, it would be beneficial to determine through which pathway Metformin is functioning. One way to test this would be by using an insulin receptor antagonist. One potential antagonist is S169, which has been found to cause hyperglycemia and decreased glucose uptake in Sprague-Dawley rats (Vikram and Jena 2010). If any effect of Metformin is reversed this suggests that Metformin is working through a pathway involving insulin receptors. If however, there is no change in the action of Metformin, then it is likely another pathway is involved in the functioning of Metformin.

It is also possible that a glucose/STZ *in vitro* model of AD may not capture the potential benefits of Metformin. Current *in vitro* models of AD utilizing glutamate or amyloid beta may be able to reflect changes in neuronal health due to Metformin that were not visible in a model using glucose/STZ. In addition, studying the effect of Metformin in an *in vitro* model shows the direct effect of Metformin on neuronal health. However, it is possible that by isolating neurons, information on changes that occur within the body that can have an impact

on the brain could be lost. Experiments using an *in vivo* model would provide information on how Metformin effects the organism as a whole or changes in cellular health that can only be seen in interactions between the body and brain.

#### **Conclusions**

The glucose/STZ model did produce significant decreases in neuronal health. Therefore, its continued use as a potential model of cell death due to problems in insulin signaling remains possible. In addition, insulin free conditions produced significant decreases in cell viability indicating the importance of the presence of insulin and the insulin pathway on neuronal health.

Metformin's potential to prevent neuronal degeneration in an AD model is still in question. At 400  $\mu$ M, Metformin does not appear to be effective in reducing the cell death in a model of AD using high glucose concentrations and STZ. However, many studies using Metformin have used higher concentrations of the drug. Therefore, further experiments could consider the potential of higher concentrations of Metformin or extended pretreatment time on the ability to protect against neuronal degeneration. In addition, the effect of Metformin on neuronal health in other models of AD could be studied. This includes other *in vitro* models like those utilizing glutamate and/or amyloid beta as well as *in vivo* models.

In addition, isolating the pathway and mechanism of action of Metformin in the brain would provide more insight into its potential in the prevention of neural degeneration. Therefore, while my results do not suggest that at one specific concentration of Metformin the drug is effective at reducing neuronal toxicity, the potential of the drug still stands as additional concentrations should be considered before further conclusions are made.

Acknowledgements: I would first like to thank Dr. Knowles and Dr. Petrack, who have been invaluable mentors to me. Many thanks to Dr. Christina McKittrick, Dr. Stephen Dunaway, and Dr. Catherine Keyser for serving on my committee and providing feedback and support. I am grateful to Dr. Sarah Abromowitz for assistance with statistical analysis. Thank you to those in my lab both past and present for their dedication and assistance: Danielle Gregor, Rachel Masia, Yasmine Mourad, Andrew Torres, Monal Mehta, Samantha Cassidy, Amanda Rubin, and Greg Gedman. I would like to acknowledge Beta Beta Beta Biological Honors Society for providing funding for my work.

## Literature Cited

- Akter K, Lanza EA, Martin SA, Myronyuk N, Rua M, Raffa RB. 2010. Diabetes mellitus and AD : shared pathology and treatment? *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*. 71: 365-376.
- AD Association. 2013. AD Facts and Figures. Alzheimer's and Dementia. 9: 1-71.
- Attwell D. and Laughlin S. 2001. An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*. 21: 1133-1145.
- Baharmi F. and Janahmadi M. 2013. Antibiotic supplements affect electrophysiological properties and excitability of rat hippocampal pyramidal neurons in primary culture. *Iranian Biomedical Journal*. 17: 101-106.
- Berg J, Tymoczko J, Stryer L. The Integration of Metabolism. In: Biochemistry. 7<sup>nd</sup> ed. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company. 809.
- Beydoun M., Lhotsky A., Wang Y., Fomo G., An Y., Metter J., Ferrucci L., O'Brien R., Zonderman A. 2008. Association of adiposity status and changes in early to midadulthood with incidence of AD. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 168: 1179-1189.
- Bowler J V, Munoz DG, Merskey H, Hachinski V. 1998. Factors affecting the age of onset and rate of progression of AD. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*. 65:184–190.
- Braak H and Braak E. 1995. Staging of AD-related neurofibrillary changes. *Neurobiology of Aging*. 16: 271-278.
- Brookmeyer R, Gray S, Kawas C. 1998. Projections of AD in the United States and the Public Health Impact of Delaying Disease Onset. *American Journal of Public Health*. 88: 1337-1342.
- Brookmeyer R, Johnson E, Ziegler-Graham K, Arrighi HM. 2007. Forecasting the global burden of AD. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*. 3:186–91.
- Brunori M., Antonini G., Malatesta F., Sarti P., Wilson M. 1987. Cytochrome oxidase. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. 169: 1-8.
- Brussee V, Cunningham FA, Zochodne DW. 2004. Direct insulin signaling of neurons reverses diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes*. 53:1824–30.

- Caberlotto L, Lauria M, Nguyen T-P, Scotti M. 2013. The central role of AMP-kinase and energy homeostasis impairment in AD: A multifactor network Analysis. *PLOS One*. 8: e78919.
- Carro E., Torres-Aleman T. 2004. The role of insulin and insulin-like growth factor I in the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying the pathology of AD. *European Journal of Pharmacology*. 490: 127-133.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2007. National diabetes fact sheet: general information and national estimates on diabetes in the United States. Available at http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/pdf/ndfs\_2007.pdf
- Cheng J-T. 2006. Novel mechanism for plasma glucose-lowering action of Metformin in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Diabetes* 55:819–825.
- Coburger I, Dahms S, Roeser D, Gührs K, Hortschansky P, Than M. 2013. Analysis of the overall structure of the multi-domain amyloid precursor protein (APP). *PLOS One* 8:e81926.
- Codario R. 2010. *Type 2 Diabetes, Pre-Diabetes, and the Metabolic Syndrome*. New York: Springer Science and Business Media, LLC. P 4.
- Cole G., Frautschy S. 2007. The role of insulin and neurotrophic factor signaling in brain aging and AD. *Experimental Gerontology*. 42: 10-21.
- Correia S., Santos R., Perry G., Zhu X., Moreira P., and Smith M. 2011. Insulin-resistant brain state: The culprit in sporadic AD? *Aging Research Reviews*. 10: 264-273.
- Cox M., Doudna J., O'Donnell M. In: Molecular Biology Principles and Practice. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company. P 418.
- Crafte D., Sokoloff L. 1999. Substrates of cerebral metabolism. In: Siegel G, Agranoff B., Albers R (eds.). Basic Neurochemistry: Molecular, Cellular, and Medical Aspects. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven.
- De la Monte S., Wands J. 2008. AD is Type 3 Diabetes-Evidence Reviewed. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology* 2: 1101-1113.
- El-Mir M., Detaille D., R-Villanueva G., Delgado-Esteban M., Guigas B., Attia S., Fontaine E., Almeida A., Leverve X. 2007. Neuroprotective role of antidiabetic drug Metformin against apoptotic cell death in primary cortical neurons. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*. 34: 77-87.
- Feinstein S., Wilson L. 2005. Inability of tau to properly regulate neuronal microtubule dynamics: a los-of-function mechanism by which tau might medicate neuronal cell death. *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta*. 1739: 268-279.

- Flegal K., Carroll M., Kit B., Ogden C. 2012. Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. 307: 491-497.
- Freier D., Fedriani R., Scully D., Smith I., Selkoe D., Walsh D., Regan C. 2011. Aβ oligomers inhibit synapse remodeling necessary for memory consolidation. *Neurobiology of Aging*. 32: 2211-2218.
- Fryer LGD, Parbu-Patel A, Carling D. 2002. The anti-diabetic drugs Rosiglitazone and metformin stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase through distinct signaling pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 277:25226–32.
- Green R., Cupples A., Kurz A., Auerbach S., Go R., Sadovnick D., Duara R., Kukull W., Chui H., Edeki T., Griffith P., Friedland R., Bachman D., Farrer L. 2003. Depression as a risk factor for AD: The MIRAGE study. *The Journal of the American Medical Association Neurology*. 60: 753-759.
- Gupta A, Bisht B, Dey CS. 2011. Peripheral insulin-sensitizer drug metformin ameliorates neuronal insulin resistance and Alzheimer's-like changes. *Neuropharmacology*. 60:910–920.
- Halliwell B. 1992. Reactive oxygen species and the central nervous system. *Free Radicals in the Brain*. 21-40.
- Hardy J, Selkoe DJ. 2002. The amyloid hypothesis of AD: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science*. 297:353–6.
- Hasselmo M. 2006. The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 16: 710-715.
- Havrankova J, Roth J, Brownstein MJ. 1979. Concentrations of insulin and insulin receptors in the brain are independent of peripheral insulin levels. Studies of obese and streptozotocin-treated rodents. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 64:636–42.
- Hoyert D. and Xu J. 2012. Deaths: preliminary data for 2011. *National Vital Statistics Reports* 61: 3.
- Hynd M., Scott H., and Dodd P. 2004. Glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity and neurodegeneration in AD. *Neurochemistry International*. 45: 583-595.
- Hwang, I, Kim I, Jung Joo E., Shin J., Choi J., Won M., Yoon Y., Seong J. 2010. Metformin normalizes type 2 diabetes-induced decrease in cell proliferation and neuroblast differentiation in the rat dentate gyrus. *Neurochemical Research*. 35: 645-650.

- Jackson HM, Soto I, Graham LC, Carter GW, Howell GR. 2013. Clustering of transcriptional profiles identifies changes to insulin signaling as an early event in a mouse model of AD. *BioMed Central Genomics*. 14:831.
- Jin M., Shepardson N., Yang T., Chen G., Walsh D., Selkoe D. Soluble amyloid B-protein dimmers isolated from Alzheimer cortex directly induce Tau hyperphosphorylation and neuritic degeneration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 108: 5819-5824.
- Jung H., Park S., Mok J., Lee T., Park C., Park S. 2011. Increased expression of three-repeat isoforms of tau contributes to tau pathology in a rat model of chronic type 2 diabetes. *Experimental Neurology*. 228: 232-241.
- Kandel E. Schwartz J., Jessell T., Siegelbaum S., Hudspeth AJ. 2013. Principles of Neural Science. 5<sup>th</sup> edition. 212-213.
- Katzman, R. 1976. The prevalence and malignancy of AD: A major killer. *Archives of Neurology*. 33:217-218.
- Kirpichnikov D, McFarlane SI, Sowers JR. 2002. Metformin: an update. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 137:25–33.
- Klip A, Leiter LA. 1990. Cellular Mechanism of Action of Metformin. *Diabetes Care*. 13:696–704.
- Kodl C., Seaquist. 2008. Cognitive dysfunction and diabetes mellitus. *Endocrine reviews*. 29: 494-511.
- Kuusisto, J., Koivisto K., Mykkänen L., Helkala E., Vanhanen M., Hänninen T., Kervinen K., Kesäniemi A., Riekkinen P., Laakso Y. 1997. Association between features of the insulin resistance syndrome and AD independently of apolipoprotein E4 phenotype: cross sectional population based study. *British Medical Journal*. 315: 1045-1049.
- Laron Z. 2009. Insulin and the brain. Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry. 115:112-6.
- Lebovitz HE. 1999. Type 2 diabetes: an overview. *Clinical Chemistry*. 45:1339–45.
- Lee A., Fenster B., Hideki I., Takeda K., Bae N., Hirai T., Yu Z., Ferrans V., Howard B., Finkel T. 1999. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 274: 7936-7940.
- Lester-Coll N., Rivera E., Soscia S., Doiron K., Wands J., de la Monte S. 2006. Intercerebral streptozotocin model of type 3 diabetes: relevance to sporadic AD. *Journal of AD*. 9: 13-33.

- Li J, Deng J, Sheng W, Zuo Z. 2012. Metformin attenuates AD-like neuropathology in obese, leptin-resistant mice. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*. 101:564–574.
- Life Technologies. 2011. Glutamax media: healthier cells live longer. Carlsbad, CA.
- Like, A. Rossini A. 1976. Streptozotocin-Induced Pancreatic Insulitis: New Model of Diabetes Mellitus. Science. 193: 415-417.
- Maesako M., Uemura K., Kubota M., Hiyoshi K., Ando K., Kuzuya A., Kihara T., Asada M., Akiyama H., Kinoshita A. 2011. Effect of glycogen synthase kinase 3 β-mediated presenilin 1 phosphorylation on amyloid β production is negatively regulated by insulin receptor cleavage. *Neuroscience*. 177: 298-307.
- Martínez-Tellez R, Gómez-Villalobos MDJ, Flores G. 2005. Alteration in dendritic morphology of cortical neurons in rats with diabetes mellitus induced by streptozotocin. *Brain Research*. 1048:108–15.
- Masia, R. 2013. An *in vitro* neurodegeneration model of AD using streptozotocin and high concentrations of glucose in an insulin deprived environment [honor's thesis]. Madison, NJ: Drew University.
- Mattson M. 2004. Pathways towards and away from AD. *Nature*. 430: 631-639.
- Mayeux R and Sano M. 1999. Treatment of AD. New England Journal of Medicine. 341:1670-9.
- Mcclean PL, Gault VA, Harriott P, Hölscher C. 2010. Glucagon-like peptide-1 analogues enhance synaptic plasticity in the brain: A link between diabetes and AD. *European Journal of Pharmacology*. 630:158–162.
- Miklossy J., Qing H., Radenovic A., Kis A., Vileno B., Laszlo F., Miller L., Martins R., Waeber G., Mooser V., Bosman F., Khalili K., Darbinian N., McGeer P. 2010. Beta amyloid and hyperphosphorylated tau deposits in the pancreas in type 2 diabetes. *Neurobiology of Aging*. 31: 1503-1515.
- Messier C, Gagnon M. 1996. Glucose regulation and cognitive functions : relation to AD and diabetes. *Behavioral Brain Research*. 75:1–11.
- Messier C., and Teutenberg K. 2005. The role of insulin, insulin growth factor, and insulindegrading enzyme in brain aging and AD. *Neural plasticity* 12: 311-328.
- Moreira PI, Santos MS, Seiça R, Oliveira CR. 2007. Brain mitochondrial dysfunction as a link between AD and diabetes. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 257:206–214.

- Mosconi L. 2005. Brain glucose metabolism in the early and specific diagnosis of AD. European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging. 32: 486-510.
- Mutisya E., Bowling A., Beal M. 1994. Cortical cytochrome oxidase activity is reduced in AD. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 63: 2179-2184.
- Natali A., Ferranini E. 2006. Effects of metformin and thiazolidinediones on suppression of hepatic glucose production and stimulation of glucose uptake in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Diabetologia*. 49: 434-441.
- Reger M., Watson G., Green P., Wilkinson C., Baker L., Cholerton B., Fishel M., Plymate S., Breitner J., DeGroodt W., Mehta P., Craft S. 2008. Intranasal insulin improves cognition and modulates B-amyloid in early AD. *Neurology*. 70: 1-9.
- Riek R., Güntert P., Döbeli H., Wipf B., Wüthrich K. 2001. NMR studies in aqueous solution fail to identify significant conformational differences between the monomeric forms of two Alzheimer peptides with widely different plaque-competence, Aβ (1–40) ox and Aβ (1–42) ox. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 22: 5930-5936.
- Rossor MN, Iversen LL, Reynolds GP, Mountjoy CQ, Roth M. 1984. Neurochemical characteristics of early and late onset types of AD. *British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition)*. 288:961–4.
- Schubert D. 2005. Glucose metabolism and AD. Aging Research Reviews. 4:240–257.
- Schonheit, B., Zarski R., Ohm T. 2004. Spatial and temportal relationships between plaques and tangles in Alzheimer-pathology. *Neurobiology of Aging*. 25: 697-711.
- Schulze E., Asai D., Bulinski J., Kirschner M. Porttranslational modification and microtubule stability. *The Journal of Cell Biology*. 105: 2167-2177.
- Selkoe DJ. 2001. AD : Genes, Proteins, and Therapy. Physiological Reviews. 81:741–766.
- Shalat S., Seltzer B., Pidcock C., Baker E. 1987. Risk factors for AD: a case-control study. *Neurology*. 10: 1630-1633.
- Shubert D. 2005. Glucose metabolism and AD. Aging Research Reviews. 4: 240-257.
- Shearer J, Green C, Ritchie CW, Zajiceh JP. 2012. Health state values for use in the economic evaluation of treatments for AD. *Drugs Aging*. 29: 31–44.
- Soucek T., Cumming R., Dargusch R., Maher P., Schubert. The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. *Neuron.* 39: 43-56.

- Strassnig M. and Ganguli M. 2005. About a peculiar disease of the cerebral cortex. *Psychiatry*. 2: 30-33.
- Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, Monte SM De. 2005. Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in AD – is this type 3 diabetes? *Journal of AD*. 7:63–80.
- Stranahan A, Norman E, Lee K, Cutler R, Telljohnann R, Egan J, Mattson M. 2008. Dietinduced insulin resistance impairs hippocampal synaptic plasticity and cognition in middle-aged rats. *Hippocampus*. 18: 1085-1088.
- Sultana R, Butterfield DA. 2010. Role of oxidative stress in the progression of AD. *Journal* of AD. 19:341–53.
- Szkudelski T. 2001. The mechanism of alloxan and streptozotocin action in B cells of the rat pancreas. *Physiological Research*. 50: 537-546.
- Takashima A. 2006. GSK-3 is essential in the pathogenesis of AD. *Journal of AD*. 9: 309-317.
- Taylor S., Berkelman T., Yadav ., Hammond M. 2013. A Defined methodology for reliable quantification of Western blot data. *Molecular Biotechnology*. 55: 217-226.
- Turner R. 1999. Glycemic control with diet, Sulfonylurea, Metformin, or insulin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. 281: 2005.
- Ullah I., Ullah N., Naseer M., Lee H., and Kim M. Neuroprotection with Metformin and Thymoquinone against ethanol-induced apoptotic neurodegeneration in prenatal rat cortical neurons. *BioMed Central Neuroscience*. 13: 11.
- Vikram A. and Jena G. 2010. S961, an insulin receptor antagonist causes hyperinsulinemia, insulin-resistance and depletion of energy stores in rats. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 398: 260-265.
- Wang X. 2001. The expanding role of mitochondria in apoptosis. *Genes and Development*. 2922–2933.
- Wang X., Song X., Takata T., Miichi Y., Yokono K., Sakurai T. 2010. Amyloid-β neurotoxicity restricts glucose window for neuronal survival in rat hippocampal slice cultures. *Experimental Gerontology*. 45: 904-908.
- Watson G., Craft S. 2004. Modulation of memory by insulin and glucose: neuropsychological observations in AD. *European Journal of Pharmacology*. 490: 97-113.

- Wei M., Ong L., Smith MT., Ross F., Schmid K., Hoey A., Burstow D., Brown L. 2003. The streptozotocin-diabetic rat as a model of the chronic complications of human diabetes. *Heart, Lung, and Circulation.* 12: 44-50.
- Weiler, P. G. 1987. The public health impact of AD. *American Journal of Public Health*. 77: 1157-1158.
- Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. 2003. Insulin and the blood-brain barrier. *Current Pharmacological Discovery*. 9: 795–800.
- Zhao, Zhong, Zhongmin Xiang, Vahram Haroutunian, Joseph D. Buxbaum, Breton Stetka, and Giulio Maria Pasinetti. 2007. Insulin degrading enzyme activity selectively decreases in the hippocampal formation of cases at high risk to develop AD. *Neurobiology of aging*. 6: 824-830.